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Chairman’s Statement
 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China National Culture Group Limited 
(the “Company”), I present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CURRENT YEAR REVIEW
During the year, the Group keep focusing on its existing advertising and e-commerce business. Although it 
is expected that it will generate stable revenue stream to the Group, due to the COVID-19 outbreak and the 
global economy downturn which affect the consumption ability of the consumer and also our client. Besides, 
the Group also aim to develop the Group’s movie segment, including but not limited to the investment in, 
purchase of and distribution of film, web series and TV Series contents, which are expected to generate 
positive contributions to the Group in the future.

The Group has net loss for the year mainly due to (i) the decrease of gross profit due to the negative effect 
from COVID-19 outbreak and the global economy downturn; (ii) net realised and unrealised loss on financial 
assets held for trading; and (iii) impairment loss in respect of goodwill and intangible assets. The Directors 
will continue to maintain a diversified investment portfolio and closely monitor the performance of all 
investments.

PROSPECTS
Entering the year of 2022, the Group opts for looking ahead positively with hopes. Along with the success 
in the research and development of new vaccines in some countries and the widespread vaccination of the 
same, the anti-epidemic work claims one silver lining. The Group has been actively seeking new business 
opportunities from time to time in order to (1) broaden the source of income; (2) diversify its business; and 
(3) enhance the long-term growth potential of the Group and the shareholder’s value.

Looking forward, the Group will strive to enhance its profitability, judge the hour and size up the situation 
and make good use of government policies and national development plans in order to maximize its 
investment return and position to appropriate business opportunities in pursuing healthy and stable growth.

To achieve this vision, our future plans including but not limited to:

– Continued development of advertising and e-commerce related businesses;

– Expansion of advertising and e-commerce related business through acquisition and/or co-operation;

– Strategic investments in both regional and overseas fi lm, web series and TV series contents 
productions; and

– Diversifying the Group’s business portfolio in other business sector, including but not limited to media 
and culture related business.

The Group will keep the shareholders abreast of the latest development of the Group.

APPRECIATION
Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders, 
the management and our staff members for their dedication and support.

SUN Wei
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis
 

Business Review
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$67,457,000 (2021: 
HK$78,095,000), representing a decrease of 13.6% as compared with last year. The decrease in turnover 
in the current year mainly due to the decrease in turnover generated from advertising and movie segment. 
The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$23,041,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 as 
compared with a gross profit of approximately HK$23,125,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The gross 
profit margin increased to 34.2% for the year ended 31 March 2022 from 29.6% for the year ended 31 
March 2021. The increase was mainly because the advertising business segment has upgraded the services to 
the existing clients in order to enhance the competitiveness in the market.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$34,551,000 for the year 
ended 31 March 2022 as compared with a loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to 
approximately HK$56,317,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021. The net loss reported by the Group 
decreased mainly due to decrease in administrative expenses and the impairment loss recognised in respect 
of intangible assets.

Financial Review
As at the end of the year, non-current assets decreased to approximately HK$17,499,000 (2021: 
HK$35,365,000) due to impairment loss recognised on intangible assets during the year. Current assets 
increased due to the increase in accounts receivable. Total current liabilities were increased due to the 
increase in accounts payable.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
Financial assets held for trading as at 31 March 2022:

Name of investee

As at 
1 April 

2021

Realised and
unrealised 
fair value

gain/(loss)

As at 
31 March 

2022

Percentage 
to the 

Group’s 
audited 

total assets 
as at 

31 March 
2022

Number of 
shares held 

by the Group 
as at 

1 April 
2021

Percentage of 
shareholding 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
1 April 

2021

Number 
of shares 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
31 March 

2022

Percentage of 
shareholding 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
31 March 

2022
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 % % %

Significant investments
Capital VC Limited (“Capital VC”)  

(stock code: 2324.HK) (note a) 2,850 (454) 3,589 4.1% 100,010,000 2.91% 14,471,000 3.44%
Asia Grocery Distribution  

Limited (“Asia Grocery”)  
(stock code: 8413.HK) (note b) 2,520 (807) 1,713 2.0% 10,080,000 0.87% 10,080,000 0.87%

Sub-total 5,370 (1,261) 5,302 6.1%

Other listed securities 14,815 (7,568) 16,729 19.2%

Total 20,185 (8,829) 22,031 25.3%

Note: (a) Capital VC is engaged in investing in listed and unlisted companies mainly in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic 
of China. Based on Capital VC’s interim report for the six months ended 31 March 2022, negative turnover and 
loss of Capital VC were approximately HK$40.7 million and HK$49.7 million respectively.

(b) Asia Grocery is engaged in trading and distribution of food and beverage grocery products in Hong Kong. Based 
on Asia Grocery’s quarterly report for the year ended 31 March 2022, turnover and loss of Asia Grocery were 
approximately HK$241.4 million and HK$2.1 million respectively.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
 

The future performance of the listed securities may be influenced by the Hong Kong stock market. In this 
regard, the Group will continue to maintain a diversified investment portfolio and closely monitor the 
performance of its investments and the market trends to adjust its investment strategies.

Except the significant investments disclosed above, at 31 March 2022, there was no investment held by the 
Group the value of which was more than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

Equity instruments of FVTOCI as at 31 March 2022

Name of investee

As at 
1 April 

2021

Realised and
unrealised 
fair value

gain/(loss)

As at 
31 March 

2022

Percentage to 
the Group’s 

audited 
total assets 

as at 
31 March 

2022

Number 
of shares 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
1 April 

2021

Percentage of 
shareholding 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
1 April 

2021

Number 
of shares 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
31 March 

2022

Percentage of 
shareholding 

held by 
the Group 

as at 
31 March 

2022
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 % % %

Luxxu Group Limited (“LUXXU”)  
(stock code: 1327) (note) 1,971 3,343 5,314 6.1% 17,142,800 4.13% 17,142,800 3.18%

Other listed securities 2,429 (263) 2,166 2.5%

Total 4,400 3,080 7,480 8.6%

Note: LUXXU is principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of own-branded watches and jewelleries, including but not 

limited to diamond watches, tourbillion watches and luxury jewellery accessories, OEM watches and third-party watches. 

Based on LUXXU annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021, revenue and loss of LUXXU were approximately 

RMB70.7 million and RMB43.9 million respectively.

No impairment loss was recognised in relation to the equity instruments of FVTOCI by reference to the 
market price of the equity instruments of FVTOCI as at 31 March 2022.

Except the equity instruments of FVTOCI disclosed above, at 31 March 2022, there was no equity instruments 
of FVTOCI held by the Group the value of which was more than 5% of the total assets of the Group.

Capital structure
Authorised share capital
As at 31 March 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company (“Authorised Share Capital”) was 
HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 shares (“Shares”) of HK$0.04 each and 3,500,000,000 
non-voting convertible preference shares of HK$0.14 each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
 

Issued share capital
As at 31 March 2022, the number of Shares in issue was 731,172,500 Shares of HK$0.04 each. Except for 
the changes mentioned below, the issued share capital of the Company had no other changes during the 
year ended 31 March 2022.

On 8 April 2021, the Company conditionally agreed to place up to 117,772,920 ordinary shares at the 
placing price of HK$0.145 per placing shares to not less than six placees. The Placing was completed on 
3 May 2021 and a total of 117,772,920 ordinary shares had been successfully placed to the placees.

USE OF PROCEEDS
Placing
On 8 April 2021, the Company conditionally agreed to place up to 117,772,920 ordinary shares at the 
placing price of HK$0.145 per placing shares to not less than six placees. The Placing was completed on 
3 May 2021 and a total of 117,772,920 ordinary shares had been successfully placed to the placees. The net 
proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and other related expenses and professional fees) from 
the Placing amounted to approximately HK$16.7 million. The Company intended to use such net proceeds 
for the development of the Group’s movie segment, including but not limited to the investment in, purchase 
of and distribution of film, web series and TV series contents. As at the date of this announcement, the net 
proceeds were fully utilized as intended.

Liquidity and financing
The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately HK$3,651,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 
HK$5,725,000). The Group recorded total current assets of approximately HK$69,604,000 as at 31 March 
2022 (2021: HK$66,441,000) and total current liabilities of approximately HK$28,265,000 as at 31 March 
2022 (2021: HK$28,216,000).

There were no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). The Group’s gearing ratio,  remained as 
zero (2021: zero).

Treasury policies
Cash and bank deposits of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars. The Group conducts its core business 
transaction mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi such that the Group did not use any derivative 
instruments to hedge its foreign currency exposure as the Group considered its foreign currency exposure is 
insignificant. However, management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
 

Pledge of assets
As at 31 March 2022, no asset of the Group was being pledged as there is no external financing (2021: Nil).

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for in the financial 
statements amounting to approximately HK$2,486,000 (2021: HK$2,566,000).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, and 
Future Plans for Material Investments or Acquisition of Capital Assets
Save for those disclosed in this report, there were no other significant investments held, material acquisitions 
or disposals of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2022. Apart from those disclosed in this report, 
there was no plan approved by the Board for other material investments or acquisition of capital assets as at 
the date of this report.

No Material Changes
Saved as disclosed in this report, there are no material changes affecting the Company’s performance that 
needs to be disclosed under paragraphs 32 and 40(2) of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 
31 March 2022.

Employee Information
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 22 (2021: 22) employees whom are employed in Hong Kong and the 
PRC. They are remunerated at market level with benefits such as medical, retirement benefit and share 
option scheme.
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Report of the Directors
 

The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group 
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 34 to 39.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend (2021: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years is set out on page 104 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the 
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Saved as disclosed in this report, there are no movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group 
during the year.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s issued share capital are set out in the notes 30 and 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted the existing share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 29 August 
2014. The scheme mandate limit of which has been refreshed at the annual general meeting of the 
Company on 31 August 2017, 27 September 2019, 29 September 2020 and 28 September 2021. During the 
year under review, 58,880,000 share options were granted, 24,535,000 share options were exercised and 
no share option was lapsed nor cancelled. As at the date of this report, there are 132,485,000 outstanding 
share options.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors
 

Up to the date of this report, 132,485,000 share options has been granted by the Company pursuant to 
such Share Option Scheme. The options are unlisted. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for 
one share of HK$0.40 each of the Company.

Category of 
participants

Number of share options

Vesting 
period

Exercisable 
period 

Exercise 
price per 

share 
(HK$)Date of grant

Outstanding 
as at 

1 April 2021

Granted 
during the 

year ended 
31 March 

2022

Exercised 
during the 

year ended 
31 March 

2022

Lapsed 
during the 

year ended 
31 March 

2022

Forfeited 
during the 

year ended 
31 March 

2022

Outstanding 
as at 

31 March 
2022

Executive directors
Sun Wei 21 August 2019 4,907,000 – – – – 4,907,000 no 6 years 0.40

11 August 2021 – 5,888,000 – – – 5,888,000 no 3 years 0.161
Man Qiaozhen 21 August 2019 4,907,000 – – – – 4,907,000 no 6 years 0.40

11 August 2021 – 5,888,000 – – – 5,888,000 no 3 years 0.161

Independent non-executive directors
Wang Miaojun 18 August 2020 4,907,000 – – – – 4,907,000 no 5 years 0.076
Wang Yujie 18 August 2020 4,907,000 – – – – 4,907,000 no 5 years 0.076

Employees 21 August 2019 29,442,000 – – – – 29,442,000
(note (i))

no 6 years 0.40

18 August 2020 39,256,000 – (24,535,000) – – 14,721,000
(note (ii))

no 5 years 0.076

11 August 2021 – 47,104,000 – – – 47,104,000 no 3 years 0.161

Consultants 21 August 2019 9,814,000 – – – – 9,814,000
(note (iii))

no 6 years 0.40

98,140,000 58,880,000 (24,535,000) – – 132,485,000

Notes:

(i) The share options have been granted to 6 employees and each of them hold 4,907,000 share options.

(ii) The share options have been granted to 3 employees and each of then hold 4,907,000 share options.

(iii) The share options have been granted to 2 consultants and each of them hold 4,907,000 share options.

(iv) The closing price of the shares immediately before the date of share options granted on 11 August 2021 is HK$0.155.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purposes
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward participants who have contributed to the Group 
and to provide incentives to participants to work towards the success of the Company.
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Report of the Directors
 

2. Qualifying participants
The qualifying participants include (a) any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the 
Group; (b) any consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (c) any director (including 
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors) of any member of the Group; (d) any 
shareholder of any member of the Group; and (e) any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, 
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group, to be determined absolutely by the 
Board. If options are granted to the participants, regards will be had as to, inter alia, the relationship 
of the grantee to the Group, the length of time of relationship, the contribution made or to be made 
to the Group, etc.

3. Maximum number of shares
The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted under the 
Share Option Scheme shall be 73,117,252 Shares, approximately 10% of the Shares in issue as at 
28 September 2021. The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes, must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company 
from time to time.

As at the date of this annual report, 73,117,252 Shares were available for issue under the Share 
Option Scheme.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant
Maximum entitlement of each participant is 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time 
to time within any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant, any further grant of options to 
a participant in excess of the individual limit (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) 
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant must be subject to the 
Shareholders’ approval separately in general meeting of the Company with such participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting.

5. Option period
The option period is determined by the Board provided that it is not later than ten (10) years from the 
date the Board makes an offer of the grant of an option subject to the provision for early termination. 
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

6. Acceptance of offer
An offer of the grant of an option may be accepted within 28 days from the date of grant together 
with a remittance of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof.

7. Exercise price
The exercise price of the option shall be determined at the discretion of the Directors which shall not 
be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet 
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of grant; (ii) the 
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

8. Remaining life of the scheme
It shall be effective for a period of ten (10) years commencing on 29 August 2014.
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Report of the Directors
 

Save for those disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 was the Company, 
nor any of its, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of 
Association”) or the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to 
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed 
any of its listed securities.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 33 
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2022, the Company had no reserves available for distribution under the provisions of the 
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands (2021: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s 5 largest customers accounted for 23.06% (2021: 25.78%) 
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 7.64% (2021: 
8.13%). The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s 5 largest suppliers accounted 
for 65.77% (2021: 70.38%) of the Group’s total purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest 
supplier included therein amounted to 23.04% (2021: 23.47%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) 
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) 
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s 5 largest customers or the Group’s 5 largest suppliers.

OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF THE YEAR
A review of the business of the Group and analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key 
performance indicators is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on pages 4 to 7 of 
this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
A number of factors may affect the results and business operations of the Group, the principal risks and 
uncertainties faced by the Group are set out below:

Operational Risks
Our revenue is mainly derived from contracts which are not recurring in nature and any significant decrease 
in the number of our contracts would affect our operations and financial results.
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84.75% (2021: 88.38%) of our revenue during the year ended 31 March 2022 was derived from advertising 
and value added services through mobile devices and production and distribution of films and provision of 
other film related services. Our engagements with customers were on a project basis and non-recurring in 
nature. No long term agreement or master service agreement was entered into with our customers as at 
the date of this annual report. After completion of the contract, our customers are not obliged to engage 
us again in subsequent contracts, and we have to undergo the tendering process for every new contract. 
There is no assurance that our existing customers will award new contracts to us, nor can we guarantee 
that we would be able to maintain our business relationships with existing customers. In the event that we 
are unable to attract new customers or secure new contracts from our existing customers, there may be 
a significant decrease in our revenue, and our operations and financial results would hence be adversely 
affected.

Equity price risks
Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in quoted market price of the Group’s investment in financial assets. 
The Group counter the equity price risk by ensuring a board diversification of the Group’s investment 
portfolio and ensuring the investment portfolio are frequently reviewed and monitored.

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will not be able to meet its obligations when fall due. In order 
to manage the liquidity risk, the Group will continually monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level 
of cash and credit facilities to ensure the Group to meet its finance needs.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
As a responsible corporation, the Group plays an important role in protecting our environment and is 
committed to minimise our impact on the environment and natural resources. The Group adheres to the 
principle of recycling and reducing.

The Group encourages and educates staff to save energy and reduce of paper use. It also encourages 
environmental practices such as utilising emails for internal and external communication, setting up recycling 
bins, adopting e-filing in server, double-sided printing and copying, promoting using recycled paper and 
reducing energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical appliances when they are not in use.

The Company will adopt effective environmental protection by introducing e-communication with our 
shareholders and non-registered holders. The Company encourages investors to read the Company’s 
corporate communication published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange so as to 
reduce paper consumption.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements. The Group is committed 
to safeguard the Shareholders’ rights and to enhance corporate governance standard by establishing the 
audit committee (“Audit Committee”), nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”) and remuneration 
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) of the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant 
rules and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Board recognises that our employees are one of the greatest assets contributing to the Group’s 
future success. The Group strives to motivate its employees with competitive remuneration package and 
opportunities for advancement and improvement of their skills to attract and retain our employees. The 
Board reviews the remuneration package of our employees annually and makes necessary adjustments to 
conform to the prevailing market practices. The Group also adopted share options scheme to reward the 
contribution of the employees as an incentive.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with our business partners, 
which including the Group’s customers and suppliers. The Group believes that a healthy relationship can 
be build up by providing better products and enhanced services to the customers, maintaining an effective 
communication channel to the employees and collaborating with key suppliers.

The Group is in a good relationship with its customers and suppliers. As far as the Board is aware, the 
Company did not receive any complaint from customers and suppliers.

The Group engaged professional services on investor relationship from service provider for advising and 
promoting professional communication with existing and potential investors.

PROSPECTS
Please refer to the Chairman’s Statement on page 3.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) (resigned on 27 April 2022)
Ms. SUN Wei
Ms. MAN Qiaozhen

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang
Ms. WANG Miaojun
Ms. WANG Yuijie

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors as 
regards their independence to the Company and considers that each of the independent non-executive 
Directors is independent to the Company.

According to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting of the Company, 
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number 
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall 
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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According to article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election 
and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire 
by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any 
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall 
be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their 
last re-election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors 
on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In compliance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of Articles of Association, Ms. Sun Wei and Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 
will retire by rotation and being eligible, have agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

Please refer to “Corporate Governance Report – The Board of Directors” for reasons of resignation or 
retirement of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 27 to 28 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with 
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, no Director nor their connected 
entities had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or 
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its holding companies, 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTOR’S PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be entitled to 
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities 
which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or 
omitted in or about the execution of their duty, in their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto 
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which 
may attach to any of said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022, and 
such coverage remained in full force as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors had engaged in any business or had any interest in business which competes or may 
constitutes competition directly or indirectly (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) with the business of 
the Group throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE 
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Please refer to notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the emoluments of the 
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT
Details of the retirement benefit of the Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company 
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors, chief executive and their associates 
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Number of issued ordinary shares/
underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director
Personal 
interests 

Family 
interests

Corporate 
interests Total

Percentage 
of the 

issued share 
capital of 

the Company

Ms. Sun Wei
– Unlisted share options 10,795,000 – – 10,795,000 1.48%

Ms. Man Qiaozhen
– Unlisted share options 10,795,000 – – 10,795,000 1.48%

Ms. Wang Miaojun
– Unlisted share options 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 0.67%

Ms. Wang Yujie
– Unlisted share options 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 0.67%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives had any interests 
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or interest and short positions 
required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or interests 
and short positions which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies as stipulated in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company or any of its subsidiaries did not make any 
arrangements to enable any Directors or their respective spouse or minor children to obtain benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares of the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2022, according to the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO, and so 
far as is known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, there is no person had, or was deemed 
or taken to have, an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 
the SFO or who were directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of 
share capital, including options in respect of such capital, carrying voting rights to vote in all circumstances 
at general meeting of any other member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 
Directors, as at the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the 
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH PROVISIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Except for the following deviations, the Group has adopted and met all the Code Provisions set out in the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 
31 March 2022.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the non-executive directors should be appointed for 
a specific term and subject to re-election. None of the existing non-executive Directors is appointed for a 
specific term. However, the non-executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation under the articles 
of association of the Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to 
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices in this respect are no less exacting than those of 
the CG Code.
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Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors should attend general meetings. Due to other business engagement, the independent 
non-executive Directors, Ms. Wang Miaojun and Ms. Wang Yujie were unable to attend the annual general 
meeting of the Company held on 28 September 2021.

As to the deviation from code provisions A.4.1 of the CG Code, the Board will continue to review the current 
structure from time to time and shall make necessary changes when appropriate and inform the Shareholders 
accordingly. For deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the Company Secretary had reminded 
the relevant independent non-executive Directors as well as the current independent non-executive Directors 
to attend general meetings of the Company in future.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 were audited by Elite 
Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will be expired upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will be 
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On Behalf of the Board

SUN Wei
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the code provisions as set out in the CG 
Code. The Board believes that throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company complied with 
the applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the deviation from code provisions A.4.1 
regarding the terms of appointment of non-executive directors and A.6.7 regarding the attendance of 
independent non-executive Directors in the annual general meeting.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Company’s corporate governance practices and makes 
necessary changes at the appropriate time.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board, which assumes the responsibility 
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively responsible for promotion the success of 
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should take decisions objectively in the 
interests of the Company.

The Board takes the responsibility for all major matters of the Company including: the approval and 
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, 
environmental, social and governance issues, appointment and retirement of Directors and other significant 
financial and operational matters.

The executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the day-to-day management of the Company’s 
operations and implementation of the strategies set by the Board.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of 
the business of the Company and to the exercising of independent judgement. The Board currently comprises 
six Directors, including three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The names 
and biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 27 to 28 of this annual report. There is no 
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material relationship) among the members of the 
Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board met the requirements of the Listing Rules in relation to 
the appointment of at least three (3) independent non-executive Directors with at least one (1) independent 
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 
management expertise.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual 
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers 
the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Corporate Governance Report
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Currently, all independent non-executive Directors are appointed for no fixed term. Each of the independent 
non-executive Directors is subject to retirement by rotation or re-election in accordance with the Articles 
of Association. Regular Board meetings are held for reviewing and approving the financial and operating 
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

During the year, 4 Board meetings were held and the attendance of individual Directors was as follows:

Name of directors Attendance

Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) (Resigned on 27 April 2022) 4/4
Ms. SUN Wei 4/4
Ms. MAN Qiaozhen 4/4
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang 4/4
Ms. WANG Miaojun 4/4
Ms. WANG Yujie 4/4

BOARD COMMITTEES
In order to strengthen the functions of the Board and to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, 
three committees have been established, namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and 
the Nomination Committee. These committees are established with defined written terms of reference.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has established the Remuneration Committee. As at the date of this annual report, the 
Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, Ms. SUN Wei and three independent 
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. LIU Kwong Sang, Ms. WANG Miaojun and Ms. WANG Yuijie. Mr. LIU 
Kwong Sang is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary objective for setting up the 
Remuneration Committee is to comply with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. Its responsibilities 
are to review and consider the Group’s policy for remuneration of Directors and senior management, to 
recommend to the Board the remuneration packages of each of the executive Directors, independent 
non-executive Directors and the senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meeting during the year. Details of individual attendance of its 
members are set out below:

Name of members Attendance

Mr. LIU Kwong Sang 2/2
Ms. SUN Wei 2/2
Ms. WANG Miaojun 2/2
Ms. WANG Yujie 2/2

During the year, the remuneration committee had reviewed and considered, inter alia, the remuneration 
policy of the Company and the remuneration of the Directors and senior management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Kwong Sang, Ms. Wang Miaojun and Ms. Wang Yujie. Mr. Liu Kwong Sang, who 
process appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and financial management expertise, is the 
chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are: to independent review 
and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risk management systems on an ongoing 
basis, to ensure good communications among Directors and the Company’s auditor, to recommend the 
appointment of external auditor on an annual basis and approval of the audit fees, to assist the Board 
in oversight of the independence, qualifications, performance and compensation of the independent 
accountant, to review interim and annual results announcements as well as the consolidated financial 
statements prior to their approval by the Board, to provide advice on audit report, accounting policies and 
comments to all Directors.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Details of individual attendance of its members are 
set out below:

Name of members Attendance

Mr. LIU Kwong Sang 2/2
Ms. WANG Miaojun 2/2
Ms. WANG Yujie 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed and considered, inter alia, the annual results for the 
year ended 31 March 2021 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2021. The annual 
report 2022 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company has established the Nomination Committee and adopted written terms of reference in April 
2012 and January 2019, and currently consists of four members, including Ms. WANG Miaojun (Chairperson), 
Ms. SUN Wei, Mr. LIU Kwong Sang and Ms. WANG Yujie, a majority of whom are independent non-executive 
Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other things, (i) to review Board 
composition structure, size and diversity (including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational 
background) at least annually; (ii) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and 
re-appointment of Directors; and (iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

During the year, 2 meetings of Nomination Committee were held with attendance of individual member is as 
follows:

Name of members Attendance

Ms. WANG Miaojun 2/2
Ms. SUN Wei 2/2
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang 2/2
Ms. WANG Yujie 2/2
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Nomination of Directors
The Nominat ion Committee i s respons ib le for the formulat ion of nominat ion pol ic ies ,  making 
recommendations to Shareholders on Directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical 
details of Directors to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-election, and where 
necessary, nominating appropriate persons to fill casual vacancies or as additions to the Board. The 
Nomination Committee from time to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular regard to 
ensuring that there is an appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of management. It also 
identified and nominates qualified individuals for appointment as new Directors.

New Directors will be appointed by the Board. The Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria 
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when considering new director appointments.

Board Nomination Policy
The Company adopted a nomination policy, which establishes written guidelines to the Nomination 
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make recommendations 
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated 
criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to 
ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge in 
business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make sound 
and well considered decisions. Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable 
to the Group.

Nomination Process
The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has been created or is expected 
on a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee uti l izes various methods for identifying director candidates, including 
recommendations from Board members, management, and professional search firms. All director candidates, 
including incumbents and candidates nominated by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination 
Committee based upon the director qualifications. While director candidates will be evaluated on the 
same criteria through review of resume, personal interview and performance of background checks. The 
Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may 
vary based on the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than 
on the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the 
Company’s business.
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Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the qualifications, skills, 
experience and gender diversity that add to and complement the range of skills, experience and background 
of existing Directors by considering the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director 
candidates, proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound 
business judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability to assist and 
support management and make significant contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as 
it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Company shall review and reassess the nomination policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as 
required.

Board Diversity Policy
The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the Nomination Committee to ensure that 
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core 
competence for informed decision-making and effective functioning. The Company adopted its own board 
diversity policy and recognises the benefits of having diversity in the composition of the Board.

The Company noted that that people from different background and with different professional and life 
experience are likely to approach problems in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with 
diverse background will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and allow the Board to consider 
a wider range of options and solutions when deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the 
Group. In determining the Board’s composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the Nomination 
Committee will consider factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against the selection 
criteria, having regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, the business model and specific needs of 
the Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will 
bring to the Board.

Composition of the Diversified Board
As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five Directors, one of which are male. The 
following table further illustrate the composition and diversity of the Board in terms of gender, age and 
length of service with the Group, educational background and professional experience as of the date of this 
annual report:

Age Group Length of Service

Name of Director 30 to 39 40 to 49 60 to 69
less than 
5 years

more than 
5 years

Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) 
 (Resigned on 27 April 2022) ✓  ✓

Ms. SUN Wei ✓   ✓

Ms. MAN Qiaozhen ✓  ✓

Mr. LIU Kwong Sang ✓   ✓

Ms. WANG Miaojun ✓   ✓

Ms. WANG Yujie ✓  ✓
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Educational Background Professional Experience

Name of Director Finance Accountancy Others Accounting Management Media Others

Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) 
 (Resigned on 27 April 2022) ✓ ✓ ✓

Ms. SUN Wei ✓   ✓ ✓

Ms. MAN Qiaozhen ✓   ✓

Mr. LIU Kwong Sang ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Ms. WANG Miaojun  ✓ ✓ ✓

Ms. WANG Yujie  ✓ ✓

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING
As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Directors are updated with the latest development 
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time to time to ensure 
compliance of the same by all Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training 
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous professional development training.

Pursuant of code provision A.6.5 of CG Code, which has come to into effect from 1 April 2012, all 
Directors should participate in continuous professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. 
Up to the date of this annual report, the Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional 
development activities by attending training course on the topics related to corporate governance and 
regulations or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to their duties and responsibilities. 
This is in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by 
management.

The participation by individual Directors in the program during the year was recorded in the table below:

Type of CPD 
programmes

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) (Resigned on 27 April 2022) B
Ms. SUN Wei B
Ms. MAN Qiaozhen B

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang A, B
Ms. WANG Miaojun B
Ms. WANG Yujie B

Notes:

A: attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relating to corporate governance and regulations 

B: reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to directors’ duties and responsibilities
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, following specific 
enquiry by the Company, that they have fully complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 
31 March 2022.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Audit Committee reviews each year with the external auditor of the Company with regards its 
independence, approves its appointment, discusses the scope of its audit, approves its fees, and the scope 
and appropriate fees for any non-audit services requested to be provided by it. During the year, the fees paid 
to the Company’s auditor in respect of audit services and non-audit services amounted to HK$640,000 and 
HK$Nil respectively.

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited whose term of 
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to 
the Board that Elite Partners CPA Limited be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group and ensures that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable 
accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of such consolidated financial 
statements. The statement of the external auditor of the Group, Elite Partners CPA Limited, with regard to 
their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on pages 29 to 33.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment, maintenance and review of the Company’s risk 
management and internal control systems. The Company has established risk management and internal 
control systems and the Board will conduct review on the effectiveness of the system at least annually and 
report the result of the review to the shareholders.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control review advisor (the “Internal Control Advisor”) 
to conduct the annual review on the effectiveness of the internal control system. Review of the Group’s 
internal controls covered major operational, financial and compliance controls, as well as risk management 
functions of different systems has been performed on a systematic rotational basis on the risk assessments 
of the operations and controls. During the risk assessment process, the Internal Control Advisor interviewed 
the relevant personnel and identified the business objectives and significant risks of the Group. A 
risk management report prepared by the Internal Control Advisor which sets out the risks, issues and 
recommended action plan was presented to the Board for review and endorsement. The Board considered 
that significant risks of the Group were managed within the acceptable level and the management will 
continue to monitor the residual risks and report to the Board on ongoing basis.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Leung Cho Yi (“Mr. Leung”) has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company (“Company 
Secretary”) on 2 January 2020. His primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms. SUN Wei, an 
executive Director. Mr. Leung has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update his 
skills and knowledge during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The right and procedures to convene a general meeting and to demand a poll on resolutions at general 
meetings by the Shareholders are set out in the amended and restated Articles of Association headed 
“General Meetings”, “Notice of General Meetings”, “Proceedings At General Meetings” and “Voting”. 
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the Company 
Secretary by post at the principal place of business of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing 
Shareholders and investors in respect of the information about the Company.

The Company uses various communication methods to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed. 
These include publication of annual report, various notices, announcements and circulars. The Shareholders’ 
meeting also provides a useful channel for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board at which the 
Directors are available to answer questions relating to the Company’s affairs. The right to demand voting by 
poll is communicated to the Shareholders by way of circulars. Resolutions are proposed at each Shareholders’ 
meeting on each substantially separate issue, include the election of individual Director.

Certain independent non-executive Directors, for the time when general meetings were held, had other 
business engagements and thus, were not able to attend the annual general meeting held during the year 
ended 31 March 2022. In this regard, the Company Secretary had reminded the relevant independent 
non-executive Directors as well as the current independent non-executive Directors to attend general 
meetings of the Company in future, for compliance of rule A.6.7 as set out in the CG Code.

Participation of individual Directors at the general meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2022 is as 
follows:

Participation

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. SHI Junfeng (Chairman) (Resigned on 27 April 2022) 0/1
Ms. SUN Wei 1/1
Ms. MAN Qiaozhen 0/1

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang 1/1
Ms. WANG Miaojun 0/1
Ms. WANG Yujie 0/1
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy”) in March 2019, which 
establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of dividends to the Shareholders after considering 
the Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend on a number of factors, including but not limited 
to:

(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future 
expansion plans;

(iii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iv) the Group’s liquidity position;

(v) the general economic conditions and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on 
the business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where 
applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount 
will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, 
contractual restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring 
interim dividends from time to time.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as 
required.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. SHI Junfeng (“Mr. Shi”), aged 44, has years of experience in corporate management and extensive 
experience and networks in the film and television industry in the People’s Republic of China. He also held 
several senior management positions in few companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Shi also experienced in corporate 
and project investment which including but not limited to hotel and real estate industries. Mr. Shi joined the 
Group on 27 October 2020 and is the Chief Executive Officer. He is responsible for formulating the Group’s 
corporate strategies and general administrative matters. Mr. Shi has resigned as executive director of the 
Company and Chairman of the Board with effective from 27 April 2022.

Ms. SUN Wei (“Ms. Sun”), aged 38, was appointed to the Board in February 2014 as an executive 
Director, and was appointed as a member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the 
Board in November 2014. She also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Sun holds 
a Bachelor of Arts in English Education degree from Shanghai International Studies University, PRC, a Master 
of Science degree in Finance from Clark University, United States of America and a Postgraduate Certificate 
in Professional Accounting from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Sun has over five years of experience in 
accounting and administration. Since May 2020, Ms. Sun has been appointed as a director of TD Holdings, 
Inc. (ticket symbol: GLG) whose securities are listed on the United States Nasdaq Stock Market.

Ms. MAN Qiaozhen (“Ms. Man”), aged 36, was appointed to the Board in March 2018 as an executive 
Director. Ms. Man graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Finance from Shenyang Normal University（沈陽師
範大學）in July 2008. Ms. Man has over six years of experience in banking industry. She served positions as 
deputy general manager of private banking section, senior account manager and account manager (private 
banking) in a number of banks in the PRC. Ms. Man also has years of experience in media industry.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Kwong Sang (“Mr. Liu”), aged 60, was appointed to the Board in September 2004 as an 
independent non-executive Director, and the Chairperson of the audit committee of the Board. He was 
also appointed as the Chairperson of remuneration committee of the Board in 2004, and a member of the 
nomination committee of the Board in 2012.

Mr. Liu has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong with more than 27 years of 
experience in accounting profession. Mr. Liu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a 
bachelor degree in Accountancy (with honours) and obtained the Master degree in Business Administration 
from the University of Lincoln, the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, 
a fellow member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, the United Kingdom and a fellow member of 
the Institute of Public Accountants, Melbourne, Australia. Mr. Liu is also a fellow member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a 
Chartered Tax Adviser and a fellow member of the Society of Registered Financial Planners.

Mr. Liu currently acts as the independent non-executive director of of abc Multiactive Limited, whose 
securities are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, and as the independent non-executive director 
of ATIF Holdings Limited (ticker symbol: ATIF) whose shares are listed on the United States Nasdaq Stock 
Market.

Since 15 June 2020, Mr. Liu has been appointed as the independent non-executive director of Graphex 
Group Limited, securities of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Biographical Details of Directors
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Biographical Details of Directors
 

Mr. Liu was previously independent non-executive director of Polytec Asset Holdings Limited, securities of 
which are previously listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from 24 July 2000 
to 1 September 2000, and from 1 December 2000 to 9 June 2021. The listing of shares of Polytec Asset 
Holdings Limited was withdrawn by way of a scheme of privatization with effective from 26 May 2021.

He was also previously the independent non-executive director of Pine Care Group Limited, securities 
of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from 23 January 2017 to 
19 October 2020. He was the independent non-executive director of Evershine Group Holdings Limited, 
whose securities are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, for the period from 16 January 2014 to 20 
May 2014 and, from 23 May 2014 to 1 January 2017.

Ms. WANG Miaojun (“Ms. Wang”), aged 42, was appointed to the Board in February 2014 as an 
independent non-executive Director, and the Chairperson of the nomination committee, and a member 
of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the Board. Ms. Wang holds a bachelor degree in 
Electronics and Information Engineering from Shenzhen University. Ms. Wang has over 10 years of experience 
in IT and media industry. Ms. Wang is currently a general manager of the online media department and a 
director in an online media company. Ms. Wang had extensive experience in operation and management 
and had held management roles in electronics, IT and media companies and had an established network of 
relationship within IT industry in the PRC.

Ms. WANG Yujie (“Yujie”), aged 37, was appointed to the Board in July 2016 as an independent 
non-executive Director, and a member of the nomination committee, audit committee and remuneration 
committee of the Board. She was graduated from 首都經濟貿易大學華僑學院 (Overseas Chinese College, 
Capital University of Economics and Business), formerly known as 燕京華僑大學 (Yanjing Overseas Chinese 
University*) with a bachelor’s degree in Foreign Trade English from the Department of Foreign Languages in 
July 2008. Yujie has years of experience working in bidding maintenance department of a Chinese search 
engine company.

* For identification purpose only
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Independent Auditor’s Report
 

To the members of 
CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED 
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China National Culture Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) as set out on pages 34 to 103, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group at 31 March 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

We had  i den t i f i ed  impa i rmen t  a s s e s smen t  o f 
intangible assets as a key audit matter because 
s ign i f icant judgement had to be made for the 
assessment of recoverable amounts of the relevant 
cash-generating-units, of which the intangible assets 
were allocated.

In determining the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating-units, the management has made key 
assumptions in the value in use calculations, including 
but not limited to the forecast of revenue growth 
rates, discount rates and the forecast performance 
based on management’s view of future business 
prospects.

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the carrying amount of intangible assets 
of the Group as at 31 March 2022 was approximately 
10,019,000.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment 
of intangible assets included:

• Evaluating the independent external valuer’s 
competence, capabilities and objectivity.

• Cha l l eng ing the  rea sonab lenes s  o f  key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the 
business and industry.

• Evaluating the historical accuracy and the growth 
rate of the financial budget used in the discounted 
cash flows by comparing the historical budget to 
actual results.

• Testing the data adopted in the discounted cash 
flows against appropriate supporting evidence to 
assess its accuracy and reliability.

• Assessing the sensitivity analysis on the significant 
assumptions to evaluate the extent of impact on 
the discounted cash flows.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the applicable disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the agreed terms 
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any 
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Yip Kai Yin with 
Practising Certificate number P07854.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 9 67,457 78,095
Cost of sales (44,416) (54,970)

Gross profit 23,041 23,125
Other revenue 10 – 844
Administrative expenses (16,347) (26,070)
Other gains or losses 10 (46,702) (68,562)

Loss before taxation 11 (40,008) (70,663)
Income tax – credit 14 5,457 14,346

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of  
the Company (34,551) (56,317)

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share
– Basic and diluted 16 (4.83) (10.22)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (34,551) (56,317)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (192) 3,869
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value gain on investment in equity instruments at  
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 3,080 990

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of income tax 2,888 4,859

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable  
to the owners of the Company (31,663) (51,458)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 17 10,019 30,965
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 19 7,480 4,400

17,499 35,365

Current assets
Financial assets held for trading 20 22,031 20,185
Accounts receivable 22 42,026 38,312
Prepayments and other receivables 23 1,896 2,219
Cash and cash equivalents 24 3,651 5,725

69,604 66,441

Total assets 87,103 101,806

EQUITY

Capital and reserves
Share capital 30 29,247 23,555
Reserves 33 27,088 42,295

Total equity 56,335 65,850

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 26 17,596 10,821
Other payables and accruals 27 10,669 16,517
Contract liabilities 25 – 878

28,265 28,216

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 29 2,503 7,740

Total liabilities 30,768 35,956

Total equity and liabilities 87,103 101,806

Net current assets 41,339 38,225

Total asset less current liabilities 58,838 73,590

Net assets 56,335 65,850

The consolidated financial statements on pages 34 to 103 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors on 28 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

SUN Wei MAN Qiaozhen
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company  

Share

capital

Shares

premium

Share 

options

reserve

Exchange

translation

reserve

Investment

revaluation

reserve

Accumulated

losses

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2019 196,288 1,233,312 7,341 (21,456) (59,201) (1,246,535) 109,749

Loss for the year – – – – – (56,317) (56,317)

Other comprehensive expenses  

for the year:

Exchange difference on translating  

foreign operations – – – 3,869 – – 3,869

Fair value loss on investments  

in equity instruments at FVTOCI – – – – 990 – 990

Total comprehensive expenses  

for the year – – – 3,869 990 (56,317) (51,458)

Capital reduction (176,659) 176,659 – – – – –

Placing shares 3,926 2,294 – – – – 6,220

Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payment – – 1,339 – – – 1,339

Lapse of share options – – (3,651) – – 3,651 –

At 31 March 2021 23,555 1,412,265 5,029 (17,587) (58,211) (1,299,201) 65,850

Loss for the year – – – – – (34,551) (34,551)

Other comprehensive expenses  

for the year:

Exchange difference on translating  

foreign operations – – – (192) – – (192)

Fair value gain on investments  

in equity instruments at FVTOCI – – – – 3,080 – 3,080

Total comprehensive expenses  

for the year – – – (192) 3,080 (34,551) (31,663)

Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payment – – 3,635 – – – 3,635

Placing shares 4,711 11,938 – – – – 16,649

Issue of shares upon exercise  

of share option 981 1,513 (630) – – – 1,864

At March 2022 29,247 1,425,716 8,034 (17,779) (55,131) (1,333,752) 56,335

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation (40,008) (70,663)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 10
Depreciation of right-of-use asset – 60
Amortisation 844 3,002
Fair value changes on financial assets held for trading 8,829 (1,664)
Reversal of provision – (4,770)
Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable, net of reversal 18,588 19,897
Impairment loss in respect of other receivable, net of reversal (1,102) 3,800
Impairment loss in respect of intangible assets 20,982 48,885
Impairment loss in respect of investment in a film right – 2,750
Equity-settled share-based payments expenses 3,635 1,339

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 11,768 2,646
Increase in financial assets held for trading (10,675) (4,917)
Decrease in prepayments for acquisition of  

a film right/investment in a film right – 3,000
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (21,789) 2,400
Decrease in prepayments and other receivables 1,491 953
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 6,775 (12,121)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals (5,848) 3,096
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (898) 402

Cash used in operations (19,176) (4,541)

Net cash used in operating activities (19,176) (4,541)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liability – (62)
Placing shares 16,649 6,220
Issue of new shares upon exercise of share option 1,864 –

Net cash generated from financing activities 18,513 6,158

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (663) 1,617

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,725 5,276
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (1,411) (1,168)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 3,651 5,725

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 3,651 5,725

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

China National Culture Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company 
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 27 August 2002 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the 
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman 
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Unit 1104A, 11/F, 
Kai Tak Commercial Building., 317-319 DES Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are provision of advertising 
through mobile devices, e-commerce from sale of products over the internet, trading and production 
of films and provision of other film related services.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same 
as the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,  
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The applications of these amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract2

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Amendments to HKFRS 10  
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and  
its Associate or Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and  
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5  
(2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising  
from a Single Transaction2

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before  
Intended Use1

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-20201

Notes:

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and amendments to 
HKFRSs is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group’s financial position and performance 
as well as disclosure in foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which collective term includes all 
applicable individual HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) and Interpretations issued by 
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required 
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing 
Rule”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for 
certain financial assets held for trading and equity instruments at FVTOCI which are measured at fair 
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if 
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment , leasing transactions that are accounted for in 
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases , and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are 
not fair value, such as value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets .
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Group and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Group:

– has power over the investee;

– is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

– has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income/consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group 
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is 
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is 
met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance as the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group 
performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct 
good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Details of the Group’s performance obligations for revenue for contracts with customers resulting from 
application of HKFRS 15 are set out in note 9.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete satisfaction of a 
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output 
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the 
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining services promised under the 
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines 
whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or 
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by 
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that goods or services is 
transferred to a customer.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the 
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at 
inception or modification date. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions 
of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price 
of the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property 
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless such allocation cannot 
be made reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of leasehold properties that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option.

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) 
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are 
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 
during the period, in which case the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions 
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of foreign operation 
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees 
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to 
be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised 
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an 
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave 
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before 
taxation’ as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxation profit nor the accounting profit. 
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable futures.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same 
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that 
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the 
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are 
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination with finite 
useful lives are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Alternatively, intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses 
on intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its intangible assets 
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication 
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets are estimated individually, when it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared 
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If 
such indication exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a 
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
identified.
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Impairment on intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be 
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares 
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, 
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment 
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if 
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset 
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value 
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise 
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the 
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generat ing unit or a group of cash-generat ing units) is increased to the revised est imate 
of i t s  recoverable amount, but so that the increased carry ing amount does not exceed 
the ca r r y ing amount  tha t  wou ld have been de te rmined had no impa i rment  lo s s  been 
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generat ing unit or a group of cash-generat ing units ) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less.
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Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of 
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts 
receivable arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at 
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments 
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset 
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of 
a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an 
equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 
Business Combinations  applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that is required to be measured at 
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk 
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the 
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 
or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with 
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in 
the “other gains or losses” line item.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial 
assets (including accounts receivable and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents) which are 
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current 
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable that result from transactions within 
the scope of HKFRS 15.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime 
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in 
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date 
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. 
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 
available) or internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant 
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk 
has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the 
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes 
past due.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset 
is more than 1 year past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to 
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial 
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation.



56 CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a f inancial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are over two 
years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to 
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. 
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment 
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, 
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain accounts receivable are considered on a collective basis taking into 
consideration past due information and relevant credit information such as forward-looking 
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group 
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of accounts receivable where the 
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated 
losses.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with 
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including accounts payable, other payables and accruals, are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised because it 
is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is 
expected to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will 
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, 
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Segment information

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless 
the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products 
and services and the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services. Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these 
criteria.
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Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured 
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking 
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with 
a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the 
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment 
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if 
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with 
a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve. For share options that vest immediately at 
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or 
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are 
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with parties other than employees are measured 
at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured 
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of 
the goods or services received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for 
recognition as assets).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties include a person and entity as defined 
below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 
Group; or

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary 
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant voting power in the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a Group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 
obligations between related parties.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that 
the directors of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in e-commerce from sales of products over the internet (“E-Commerce”). The 
Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the specified 
good before it is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration indicators such as the 
Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods. The Group has inventory 
risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue 
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as specified in the 
contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised revenue relating to E-Commerce 
amounted to HK$10,286,000 (2021: HK$9,074,000).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF 
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Provision of ECL for accounts receivable

When ECL assessment is performed using a provision matrix. Details on how ECL were measured 
should be consistent to the internal credit risk management of the Group in note 6.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on accounts receivable which 
are not assessed individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging 
of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical 
default rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable available 
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are 
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

(b) Estimated impairment for intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable 
amounts of the cash-generating units to which intangible assets has been allocated, which is 
the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating 
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

The net carrying amounts, of intangible assets at 31 March 2022 was HK$10,019,000 (2021: 
HK$30,965,000) respectively. Details of the impairment loss calculation are disclosed in notes 
17 and 18.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company. The ratio 
is calculated based on total debt and total assets of the Group. The directors of the Company review 
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of 
capital and the risks associated with capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group 
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and issuance of new shares 
as well as the addition of new borrowings.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratios at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liability – –

Total borrowing – –

Less: Cash and cash equivalent (3,651) (5,725)

Excess of cash and cash equivalent over  
total borrowings (3,651) (5,725)

Total equity 56,335 65,850

Debt to equity ratio N/A N/A
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 7,480 4,400
Financial assets held for trading 22,031 20,185
Financial assets at amortised cost 47,520 46,203

77,031 70,788

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 28,265 27,338

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group major financial instruments include equity instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets 
held for trading, accounts receivable and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
payable and, other payables and accruals. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed 
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments induce market risk 
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other equity price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management 
of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the Group. Because of the simplicity of 
the financial structure and the current operations of the Group, no major hedging activities are 
undertaken by management.

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business 
transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional currency 
of the group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging 
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group 
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank 
balances. The Group did not expose to significant fair value interest rate risk as the 
Group did not have any interest-bearing borrowings at fixed rates. The Group did not 
enter into interest rate swap to hedge against its exposures to interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk of bank balances, 
which are short term in nature, is insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is 
presented.

(iii) Other equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity 
securities in Hong Kong. The directors of the Company manage this exposure by 
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. The Group’s equity price risk 
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments operating in 7 (2021: 3) industry sector 
quoted in the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In addition, the Group monitors 
the price risk closely and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity 
price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments at as FVTOCI and financial assets held 
for trading had been 5% (2021: 5%) higher/lower:

Post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 would decrease/increase by HK$920,000 
(2021: HK$843,000) as a result of the change in fair value of financial assets held for 
trading; and

Investment revaluat ion reserve would increase/decrease by HK$374,000 (2021: 
HK$220,000) for the Group as a result of the change in fair value of equity instruments 
at FVTOCI.

The Group’s sensitivity to equity instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets held for 
trading has not changed significantly from the prior years.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are 
primarily attributable to accounts receivable, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. 
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks 
associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets under ECL model. Information 
about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the related 
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures 
over the customers to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts for 
accounts receivable. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual 
debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate allowances are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL 
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on accounts balances individually or based on provision 
matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is significantly 
reduced.

Accounts receivable from advertising

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 4% (2021: 15%) and 18% (2021: 36%) of the 
total accounts receivable from advertising was due from the Group’s largest customer and the 
five largest customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the 
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

Accounts receivable from e-commerce

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 57% (2021: 45%) and 100% (2021: 100%) of 
the total accounts receivable from e-commerce was due from the Group’s largest customer and 
the five largest customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management 
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit 
approvals.



68 CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Impairment assessment

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on account balances 
individually or based on provision matrix. The accounts receivable is grouped under a provision 
matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for 
recurring customers and current past due exposure for the new customers. Impairment of 
approximately HK$18,588,000 (2021: approximately HK$19,897,000) is recognised during the 
year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Cash and cash equivalent

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by authorised credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment on the 
recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and 
also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking 
information. The directors of the Company believe that there are no significant increase in 
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment 
based on 12m ECL. Reversal of impairment of approximately HK$1,102,000 (2021: Impairment 
of approximately HK$3,800,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative 
disclosures are set out below in this note.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal Accounts Other
credit rating Description receivable financial assets

Low risk The counter party has a low risk of 
default and does not have any past-due 
amounts

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit impaired

12-month ECL

Watch list The debtor frequently repays after due 
dates but usually settle in full

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit impaired

12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition based 
on information developed internally or 
external resources

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit impaired

Lifetime ECL  
– not credit impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit impaired

Lifetime ECL  
– credit impaired

Lifetime ECL 
– credit impaired

Written-off There is evidence indicating that debtor 
is severe financial difficulty and the 
Group has no realistic prospect of 
recovery

Amount is written off Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are 
subject to ECL assessment:

2022 2021
Gross Gross

External Internal 12-month carrying carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating or lifetime ECL amounts amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000      

Financial assets at amortised cost
Accounts receivable 22 N/A (note 1) Lifetime ECL 

– not credit impaired 
– credit impaired

47,201
36,022

47,233
13,550

Other receivables 23 N/A (note 2) 12-month ECL 620 203
Lifetime ECL  

– not credit impaired
4,320 6,024

Cash and cash equivalents 24 A1 or above (note 3) 12-month ECL 3,651 5,725
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

(1) For accounts receivable, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss 

allowance at lifetime ECL.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers 

in relation to its e-commerce and advertising operation. The following table provides information about 

the exposure to credit risk for accounts receivable which are assessed based on a collective basis within 

lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). During the year ended 31 March 2022, accounts receivable with gross 

carrying amounts of HK$36,022,000 (2021: HK$13,550,000) are assessed based on assessed individually.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group provided HK$5,175,000 (2021: HK$8,921,000) impairment 

allowance for trade receivables based on a collective basis. Impairment allowance of HK$36,022,000 (2021: 

HK$13,550,000) were made on debtors based on individual assessment.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts 

receivable, based on a collective basis:

At 31 March 2022

Internal credit rating
Average
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Grade 1: Low risk 2.0 3,660 (72)
Grade 2: Watch list 9.7 34,682 (3,379)
Grade 3: Doubtful 27.6 8,859 (1,724)

47,201 (5,175)

At 31 March 2021

Internal credit rating

Average

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Grade 1: Low risk 0.1 1,162 (1)

Grade 2: Watch list 6.73 37,169 (2,502)

Grade 3: Doubtful 72.1 8,902 (6,418)

47,233 (8,921)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(1) (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted 

to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has 

been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of 

the receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable 

under the simplified approach.

2022 2021

Not credit-
impaired

Credit- 
impaired Total

Not credit-

impaired

Credit- 

impaired Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

Balance at beginning of  

the year 8,921 13,550 22,471 2,394 – 2,394

Impairment loss recognised,  

net 18,588 – 18,588 19,897 – 19,897

Transfer to credit-impaired (22,472) 22,472 – (13,550) 13,550 –

Exchange realignment 138 – 138 180 – 180

Balance at end of the year 5,175 36,022 41,197 8,921 13,550 22,471
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(2) Included in other receivables are amounts representing due from an independent third party. The Group 
assessed the loss allowance for these other receivables on 12-month ECL basis. In determining the ECL, 
the Group has taken into account the historical default experience and forward-looking information as 
appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. There is no fixed 
repayment terms for other receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other 

receivables:

At 31 March 2022

Internal credit rating
Average 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Grade 3: Doubtful 71.9 4,320 3,106

At 31 March 2021

Internal credit rating

Average 

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

% HK$’000 HK$’000

Grade 3: Doubtful 67.0 6,024 4,061

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted 

to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has 

been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of 

the receivables.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(2) (Continued)

The following table shows the movement of loss allowance that has been recognised for other receivables 
under the general approach.

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL
(non-credit 

impaired)

Lifetime ECL
(credit-

impaired) Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 114 – – 114
Impairment loss recognised, net 3,800 – – 3,800
Transfer to Lifetime ECL  

(non-credit impaired) (3,914) 3,914 – –
Exchange realignment – 147 – 147

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 – 4,061 – 4,061
Impairment loss recognised, net – (1,102) – (1,102)
Transfer to Lifetime ECL  

(non-credit impaired) – – – –
Exchange realignment – 147 – 147

At 31 March 2022 – 3,106 – 3,106

(3) The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents are limited because the counterparties are with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. Majority of bank balances are deposited in 
reputable large commercial banks with credit rating of Aa3 or above issued by Moody’s.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and 
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and 
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by management and is reviewed 
monthly by the directors. The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity 
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial 
liabilities and lease liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the 
earliest date of the Group can be required to pay, are within one year or on demand (2021: 
within one year or on demand).
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. 
In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. 
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform 
the valuation. The management works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the 
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors 
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

(ii) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into 
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial 
instruments:
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

At 31 March 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 7,480 – – 7,480
Financial assets held for trading 22,031 – – 22,031

29,511 – – 29,511

At 31 March 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Equity instruments at FVTOCI 4,400 – – 4,400
Financial assets held for trading 20,185 – – 20,185

24,585 – – 24,585

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 or transfer in or out of Level 3 during the both 
years.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision 
makers (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance 
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

For the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, information is reported to the 
CODM, based on the following operating and reportable segments:

(a) the advertising segment – provision of advertising through mobile devices;

(b) the movie segment – trading and production of films and provision of other film related 
services; and

(c) the e-commerce segment – sale of products over the internet.

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segment:

Revenue Results
2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising 57,171 65,021 22,990 22,001
Movie – 4,000 – 1,000
E-commerce 10,286 9,074 51 124

67,457 78,095 23,041 23,125

Other revenue – 844
Other unallocated expenses (63,049) (94,632)

Loss before taxation (40,008) (70,663)
Income tax – credit 5,457 14,346

Loss for the year (34,551) (56,317)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

There were no inter-segment sales during the year (2021: Nil). Segment results represent the profit 
earned without allocation of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, other revenue, 
impairment loss in respect of financial assets, net of reversal, finance costs and income tax expense. 
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of operations and information about its non-
current assets, other than equity instruments at FVTOCI, by location of assets are detailed below:

Revenue from external 
customers Non-current assets

2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong – 5,266 – –
The PRC 67,457 72,829 10,019 30,965

67,457 78,095 10,019 30,965

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment:

Assets Liabilities
2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising 53,082 70,481 21,908 34,127
E-commerce 750 2,573 7,425 301

53,832 73,054 29,333 34,428
Unallocated 33,271 28,752 1,435 1,528

Consolidated total 87,103 101,806 30,768 35,956
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

• all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than financial assets held for trading and 
unallocated head office and corporate assets.

• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than tax payables and unallocated head 
office and corporate liabilities.

Other segment information

The following other segment information included in reports provided regularly to CODM.

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Advertising Movie E-commerce Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amortisation 844 – – – 844
Impairment loss in respect of intangible assets 20,982 – – – 20,982
Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable,  

net of reversal 7,858 – 10,730 – 18,588
Reversal of impairment loss in respect of  

other receivable (1,102) – – – (1,102)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Advertising Movie E-commerce Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation of right-of-use asset – – – 60 60

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – – 10 – 10

Amortisation 3,002 – – – 3,002

Impairment loss in respect of intangible assets 48,885 – – – 48,885

Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable 4,018 – 15,879 – 19,897

Impairment loss in respect of other receivable 3,800 – – – 3,800

Impairment loss in respect of investment in a film right – 2,750 – – 2,750
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from its major services

The Group’s revenue from its major services/products was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Advertising 57,171 65,021
Movie – 4,000
E-commerce 10,286 9,074

67,457 78,095

Information about major customers

There is no single customer contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group for the years ended 
31 March 2022 and 2021.

9. REVENUE

An analysis of revenue, other revenue and other gains or losses is as follows:

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue:
Advertising 57,171 65,021
Movie – 4,000
E-commerce 10,286 9,074

Revenue from contracts with customers 67,457 78,095

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Timing of revenue recognition
Point in time 10,286 13,074
Over time 57,171 65,021

67,457 78,095
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9. REVENUE (Continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

a) Advertising

Revenue from advertising is recognised over time because the customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

b) Movie

Revenue from e-movie is recognised at a point in time when the film right is delivered to 
customers, being at the point that the customer obtains the control of the goods and the 
Group has present right to payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

c) E-commerce

Revenue from e-commerce is recognised at a point in time when the goods is delivered to 
customers, being at the point that the customer obtains the control of the goods and the 
Group has present right to payment and collection of the consideration is probable. No credit 
period is granted to customers from e-commerce.

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation for contract with 
customers

As at 31 March 2022, there is no aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to the 
remaining performance obligations under the Group’s existing contracts (2021: HK$878,000).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group will recognise the expected revenue in future when the services are 
provided to customer, which is expected to occur within the next 12 months.
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10. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other revenue:
Government subsidies – 339
Repair and maintenance services – 505

– 844

Other gains or losses:
Fair value changes on financial assets held for trading (8,829) 1,664
Exchange loss 595 336
Reversal of provision – 4,770
Reversal of/(impairment losses) in respect of
– accounts receivable (18,588) (19,897)
– other receivable 1,102 (3,800)
– intangible assets (20,982) (48,885)
– investment in a film right – (2,750)

(46,702) (68,562)

11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Group’s loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration 640 640
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 10
Depreciation of right-of-use asset – 60
Amortisation 844 3,002
Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration)

– Wages and salaries 3,189 2,707
– Pension scheme contributions 41 40
– Equity-settled share-based payments expenses 2,703 1,005

5,933 3,752

Expenses related to short-term lease:
– office premises 113 145
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing 
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Fees Salaries
Pension scheme 

contributions

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments expenses Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive Directors
Mr. Shi Junfeng (note) – – – – – – – – – –
Ms. Sun Wei (Chairman) 240 – – 240 – 12 466 – 706 252
Ms. Man Qiaozhen 165 – – 180 – 9 466 – 631 189

405 – – 420 – 21 932 – 1,337 441

Fees Salaries
Pension scheme 

contributions

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments expenses Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Independent  
Non-Executive 
 Directors

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang 120 120 – – – – – – 120 120
Ms. Wang Miaojun 120 120 – – – – – 167 120 287
Ms. Wang Yujie 96 96 – – – – – 167 96 263

336 336 – – – – – 334 336 670

741 336 – 420 – 21 932 334 1,673 1,111

Note:

Mr. Shi Junfeng was appointed as an executive director on 23 March 2021 and resigned on 27 April 2022.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or as an inducement to join or upon joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). 
There were no directors have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year (2021: Nil).

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to 
which the Company’s subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at 
any time during the year.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors 
of the Company and the Group.
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five employees with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2021: three) was director of 
the Company whose emolument is included in the disclosures in Note 12 above. The emoluments of 
the remaining three (2021: two) employees was as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 765 336
Pension scheme contributions 9 9
Equity-settled share-based payments expenses 1,946 126

2,720 471

The emolument of three (2021: two) employees with the highest emolument is within the following 
band:

Number of individuals
2022 2021

Nil – HK$1,000,000 3 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join 
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2021: Nil). There 
were no five highest paid employees have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year 
(2021: Nil).

14. INCOME TAX – CREDIT

Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits 
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 
16.5%. The profits of group entities are not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will 
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon implementation of the two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated financial 
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both 
years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and 
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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14. INCOME TAX – CREDIT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the 
Group’s has either available tax loss to offset assessable profit or no estimated assessable profits 
arising in Hong Kong (2021: Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at a flat rate of 16.5%).

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
Provision for the year

– Hong Kong profits tax – 36
Over provision in prior years

– Hong Kong profits tax – (1,409)

– (1,373)
Deferred tax (5,457) (12,973)

(5,457) (14,346)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before taxation using the statutory rates for the 
countries in which the Company and its subsidiaries, are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective 
tax rates, and a reconciliation of tax at the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the 
effective tax rates, are as follows:

2022

Hong Kong PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Loss before taxation (20,487) (19,521) (40,008)

Tax at applicable tax rate (3,380) 16.5 (4,880) 25.0 (8,260) 20.6
Tax effect of income not taxable of tax purpose (2) 0.0 (1,345) 6.9 (1,347) 3.4
Tax effect of expenses not deductible of tax purpose 4,079 (19.9) 768 (3.9) 4,847 (12.2)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 170 (0.8) – – 170 (0.4)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised (867) 4.2 – – (867) 2.2

Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate – 0.0 (5,457) 28.0 (5,457) 13.6



85ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

14. INCOME TAX – CREDIT (Continued)

2021

Hong Kong PRC Total

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

Loss before taxation (11,039) (59,624) (70,663)

Tax at applicable tax rate (1,822) 16.5 (14,906) 25.0 (16,728) 23.7

Tax effect of income not taxable of tax purpose (300) 2.7 (11) 0.0 (311) 0.4

Tax effect of expenses not deductible of tax purpose 3,769 (34.1) 1,980 (3.3) 5,749 (8.1)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 50 (0.5) – – 50 (0.1)

Tax effect of deductible temporary  

difference not recognised (2) 0.0 – – (2) 0.0

Over provision in respect of prior years (1,409) 12.8 – – (1,409) 2.0

Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised (1,695) 15.4 – – (1,695) 2.4

Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate (1,409) 12.8 (12,937) 21.7 (14,346) 20.3

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company to its shareholders during the year (2021: Nil), nor 
has any dividend been declared since the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil).

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based 
on the following:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss
Loss for the year and attributable to the owners of the Company (34,551) (56,317)

2022 2021
’000 ’000

Number of shares
Weighted average number of shares for the purpose of  

basic and diluted loss per share 715,645 551,221

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s options 
because the exercise price of those options was higher than the average market price for shares for 
both 2022 and 2021.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Operating 
license

Computer 
software and 

application Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost:
At 1 April 2020 131,778 94,783 226,561
Exchange realignment 11,077 7,967 19,044

At 31 March 2021 142,855 102,750 245,605
Exchange realignment 5,888 4,235 10,123

At 31 March 2022 148,743 106,985 255,728

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2020 87,552 60,854 148,406
Provided for the year 3,002 – 3,002
Impairment loss recognised 31,786 17,099 48,885
Exchange realignment 8,615 5,732 14,347

At 31 March 2021 130,955 83,685 214,640
Provided for the year 844 – 844
Impairment loss recognised 11,325 9,657 20,982
Exchange realignment 5,619 3,624 9,243

At 31 March 2022 148,743 96,966 245,709

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2022 – 10,019 10,019

At 31 March 2021 11,900 19,065 30,965

Note:

The operating license represented the sole and exclusive rights to operate, manage and maintain the website in the PRC 

for 20 years commencing on 5 August 2015 acquired during the year ended 31 March 2016. The net carrying amount will 

be amortised over the remaining useful life of 13.75 years (2021: 14.75 years).

Included in the computer software and application, the net carrying amount as at 31 March 2022 was HK$10,019,000 

(2021: HK$19,065,000). It represents an application running on the well-known communication platform to connect 

potential customers with food and beverages business in the PRC acquired during the year ended 31 March 2017. The 

directors considered that the application has an indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash 

inflows indefinitely. The application will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be 

tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired. Particulars of the impairment 

testing are disclosed in the note 18.
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18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets have been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following groups of cash 
generating units:

– Advertising at website

– Advertising at marketing platform

Dynamic Thinker Limited

The intangible asset of Dynamic Thinker Limited (“Dynamic Thinker”) arose from the acquisition of 
Dynamic Thinker during the year ended 31 March 2016. Dynamic Thinker principally engaged in 
operating a website since August 2015. Dynamic Thinker has been granted sole and exclusive right 
to operate, to manage and to maintain the website for 20 years commencing from 5 August 2015. 
Under the license agreement entered by Dynamic Thinker, Dynamic Thinker is entitled to exploit the 
website and enjoy all right and benefits deriving from the website during the license period, i.e. 20 
years commencing from 5 August 2015. The website provides internet advertising service to customers 
in the Mainland China, and provides advertising income to the Group.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 
2021, the Group have engaged an independent external valuer, International Valuation Limited (the 
“Valuer”) to perform valuation on the recoverable amount of cash generating unit (“CGU 1”) for 
advertising through website based on a value in use calculation. The valuation had used cash flows 
projection based on financial budget approved by management which covered a 5-year period, and 
incorporated therein, a discount rate of 16% (2021: 13%); in addition, those expected cash flows 
beyond 5-year period contain 2% (2021: 2%) growth rate. This growth rate is based on the industry 
in which the CGU 1 operates.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 
2021, the Group determined the impairment assessment on the intangible asset arose from the 
acquisition of Dynamic Thinker on annual basis by reference from the recoverable amount which is 
referenced to the Valuer. In the impairment assessment, the Group prepared a cash flow projection for 
Dynamic Thinker, in which the revenue generated were lower than the projection previously budgeted, 
after taking the consideration of the change in the advertising channel from internet to popular social 
media platforms, such as WeChat, Weibo or QQ, and also affect by the COVID-19 outbreak.



88 CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Dynamic Thinker Limited (Continued)

As the recoverable amount of CGU 1 was below its carrying amount, an impairment loss in respect 
intangible asset of approximately HK$11,325,000 (2021: HK$31,786,000) has been recognised in 
profit or loss included in other gain or losses.

The key assumptions used in value in use calculation for advertising are as follows:

– Budgeted market share and sales, average market share and sales in the period immediately 
before the budget period is expected to be unchanged over the budget period. The values 
assigned to the assumptions reflect past experience, except for the growth factor, which 
is consistent with management plans for focusing operations in the industry. Management 
believes the planned market share growth and budgeted sales over the budget period is 
reasonably achievable.

– Budgeted gross margin is constant over the budgeted period.

Group Wise Holdings Limited

The intangible asset of Group Wise Holdings Limited (“Group Wise”) arose from the acquisition of 
Group Wise during the year ended 31 March 2017. Group Wise is principally engaged in provision 
of communication marketing platform services in the Mainland China. Group Wise generated income 
from provision of services to its customers, restaurants located in the Mainland China, which could 
use the electronic platform to communicate with their customers via WeChat, and provide services, 
including but not limited to table reservation, meal ordering or payment service.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 
March 2021, the Group have engaged the Valuer to perform valuation on the recoverable amount 
of cash-generating unit (“CGU 2”) for advertising through marketing platform based on a value in 
use calculation. The valuation had used cash flows projection based on financial budget approved by 
management which covered 5-year period, and incorporated therein, a discount rate of 17% (2021: 
14%); in addition, those expected cash flows beyond 5-year period contain 2% (2021: 2%) growth 
rate. This growth rate is based on the industry in which the CGU 2 operates.
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18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Group Wise Holdings Limited (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group 
determined the impairment assessment on the intangible assets arose from the acquisition of Group 
Wise on annual basis by reference from the recoverable amount which is referenced to the valuation 
report issued by the Valuer. 

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the financial performance of Group Wise was not as good as 
expected as the cashflow projection performed in 2020 due to the COVID-19 outbreak. The actual 
revenue 2021 was decreased by 6.49% as compared to the revenue projected in 2020. As a result, 
the cash flow projection performed in 2021 considered the actual financial performance for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 and adopted a lower average revenue growth rate of 2%.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the actual operating expenses in 2022 was higher than last 
year’s estimate, which was due to the increase in labour costs and promotion expenses. Accordingly, 
the management of the Company adopted a higher level of operating expenses in the cash flow 
projection.

As the recoverable amount of CGU 2 was below its carrying amount, an impairment loss in respect of 
intangible asset of approximately HK$9,657,000 (2021: HK$17,099,000) has been recognised in profit 
or loss included in other gain or losses.

The key assumptions used in value in use calculation for advertising are as follows:

–  Budgeted market share and sales, average market share and sales in the period immediately 
before the budget period is expected to be unchanged over the budget period. The values 
assigned to the assumptions reflect past experience, except for the growth factor, which 
is consistent with management plans for focusing operations in the industry. Management 
believes the planned market share growth and budgeted sales over the budget period is 
reasonably achievable.

– Budgeted gross margin is constant over the budgeted period.
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19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (note) 7,480 4,400

These investments are held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have 
elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that 
recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be 
consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising 
their performance potential in the long run.

Note:

The fair value of the listed equity investments is based on the quoted market prices available on the Stock Exchange. 

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

investment revaluation reserve amounted to approximately HK$3,080,000 (2021: fair value gain of HK$990,000).

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Held-for-trading investments include:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 22,031 20,185

The fair value of the listed equity investment is based on the quoted market price available on the 
Stock Exchange.
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21. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of 
Incorporation/ 
Registration and 
operation

Full paid-up share/ 
registered capital 

and number of 
shares

Proportion of 
ownership interest and 

voting power attributable 
to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect
2022 2021 2022 2021

Beast Media Limited Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$1,000, 
1,000 ordinary shares

– – 100% 100% E-commerce

Capital Marks Limited British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$1,000, 
1,000 shares 

of US$1 each

100% 100% – – Investment holding

Dynamic Thinker Limited British Virgin Islands/ 
PRC

US$1, 
1 share 

of US$1 each

100% 100% – – Operating website

FingerAd Media Company 
Limited

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$1, 
1 ordinary share

– – 100% 100% Food and beverages industry 
advertising business and 
movie production

Huge Leader Development 
Limited

British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$256,410, 
256,410 shares 

of US$1 each

– – 100% 100% Investment holding

Prospect Vantage 
Investment Limited

British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$100, 
100 ordinary shares 

of US$1 each

100% 100% – – Investment holding

Recent Value Limited British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$100,
100 shares 

of US$1 each

100% 100% – – Investment holding

Group Wise Holdings 
Limited

Hong Kong/ 
PRC

HK$100,
100 ordinary shares

– – 100% 100% Provision of communication 
marketing platform services

Changfu Global Limited* British Virgin Islands/ 
Hong Kong

US$1, 
1 share 

of US$1 each

– 100% – – Investment holding

Changfu Culture Hong 
Kong Limited*

Hong Kong/ 
Hong Kong

HK$1, 
1 ordinary share

– – – 100% Inactive

* Changfu Global Limited and Changfu Culture Hong Kong Limited were disposed of during the year.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at end of the year or at any time during 
the year.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable at the end of the reporting period which based on the 
date of recognition of revenue, is as follows:

As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to HK$59,500,000.

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 4,666 5,016
31-60 days 4,660 4,960
61-90 days 4,668 4,775
91-365 days 36,414 23,754
Over 365 days 32,815 22,278

83,223 60,783
Less: Impairment losses in respect of accounts receivable (41,197) (22,471)

42,026 38,312

23. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 53 53

Amount due from a former director of a subsidiary (note) 1,214 1,963
Others 629 203

Other receivables 1,843 2,166

1,896 2,219

Note: The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, reversal of impairment loss of other receivables of approximately 
HK$1,102,000 (2021: impairment loss of HK$3,800,000) has been included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, all cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates are 0.001% (2021: 0.001%).
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25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received from customers for provision of advertising 
services.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates 
to carried-forward contract liabilities.

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 878 426
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
–  revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities  

balance at the beginning of the year (878) (426)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
– receipts in advance of advertising services income – 878

– 878

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable at the end of the reporting period, is presented based on 
the invoice dates as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

0-30 days 2,267 827
31-60 days 1,939 828
61-365 days 13,088 8,083
Over 365 days 302 1,083

17,596 10,821
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Amount due to a director of a subsidiary (note) 8,144 13,996
Other payables 628 665
Accruals 1,897 1,856

10,669 16,517

Note: The amount is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

28. PROVISION

Litigation of HCA 1423/2015

On 26 June 2015, a High Court action had commenced by a former subsidiary which is currently under 
the liquidation management against the former directors of the Company and the Company regarding 
total fund transfer amount approximately HK$50,600,000. The funds have been transferred from the 
former subsidiary to the Company on 18 September 2009, 19 February 2010 and 10 March 2010 have 
been claimed no legitimate commercial purpose or justification.

A judgment was handed down, by which the former subsidiary claim against the former directors of 
the Company was dismissed entirely during the year.
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29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Fair value 
adjustments 
arising from 

acquisition of 
subsidiaries

HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 (19,538)
Credit to profit or loss 12,973
Exchange realignment (1,175)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 (7,740)
Credit to profit or loss 5,457
Exchange realignment (220)

At 31 March 2022 (2,503)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred 
tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for 
financial reporting purposes:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets – –
Deferred tax liabilities (2,503) (7,740)

(2,503) (7,740)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong of 
approximately HK$381,855,000 (2021: HK$386,079,000). Tax losses arising in Hong Kong are 
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses 
arose. Deferred tax assets had not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in 
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time, or it is not probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
of shares

Notes ‘000 HK$‘000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each
At 1 April 2020 50,000,000 1,000,000
Share consolidation (47,500,000) –
Share sub-division 22,500,000 –

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and  

31 March 2022 25,000,000 1,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each:
At 1 April 2020 9,814,410 196,288
Share consolidation (a) (9,323,689) –
Capital reduction (b) – (176,659)
Placing of shares (c) 98,144 3,926

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 588,865 23,555

Placing shares (d) 117,773 4,711
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options (e) 24,535 981

Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
At 31 March 2022 731,173 29,247

Notes:

(a) On 21 May 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation which involved the consolidation of every twenty 

ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.02 each into one consolidated share of HK$0.4 each. For details, please 

refer to the Company’s announcement dated 21 May 2020.

(b) On 28 July 2020, the par value of the ordinary shares of HK$0.40 each is reduced to HK$0.04 each by cancelling 

the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.36 each of the shares. For details, please refer to the Company’s 

announcement dated 28 July 2020.

(c) On 19 August 2020, 98,144,100 placing shares of the Company have been successfully placed by the placing 

agent. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19 August 2020.

(d) On 26 April 2021, 117,772,920 placing shares of the Company have been successfully placed by the placing agent.

(e) On 21 July 2021, 24,535,000 shares of the Company have been issued upon exercise of share options.
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31. NON-VOTING CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

Number of 
shares

Nominal value 
of shares

Notes ‘000 HK$‘000

Authorised:
Non-voting convertible preference shares of  

HK$0.07 each:
At 1 April 2020 7,000,000 490,000
Share consolidation (6,650,000) –
Share sub-division 3,150,000 –

Non-voting convertible preference shares  
of HK$0.14 each

At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and  
31 March 2022 3,500,000 490,000

Issued and fully paid:
Non-voting convertible preference shares of  

HK$0.07 each:
At 1 April 2020 – –
Share consolidation (a) – –
Capital reduction (b) – –

Non-voting convertible preference shares  
of HK$0.14 each

At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and  
31 March 2022 – –

Notes:

(a) On 21 May 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation which involved the consolidation of every twenty 

non-voting convertible preference shares of the Company of HK$0.07 each into one consolidated share of HK$1.40 

each. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 21 May 2020.

(b) On 28 July 2020, the par value of the non-voting convertible preference shares of HK$1.40 each is reduced to 

HK$0.14 each by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$1.26 each of the non-voting convertible 

preference shares. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 July 2020.

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operated a share option scheme which became effective on 29 August 2014 (the “Share 
Option Scheme”) and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years 
from that date for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their 
contributions to the Group.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company granted 58,880,000 (2021: 49,070,000) share 
option under the Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward Participants who have contributed to the Group 
and to provide incentives to Participants to work towards the success of the Company.

The Directors may at their absolute discretion grant Options to (a) any full-time or part-time employee 
of any member of the Group; (b) any consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (c) any 
director (including executive, non-executive or independent non-executive directors) of any member 
of the Group; (d) any shareholder of any member of the Group; or (e) any distributor, contractor, 
supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of any member of the Group, to be 
determined absolutely by the Board. If Options are granted to Participants, regards will be had as 
to, inter alia, the relationship of the grantee to the Group, the length of time of relationship, the 
contribution made or to be made to the Group, etc.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the 
Scheme is equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of total number of shares of the Company in issue 
at 28 September 2021. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible 
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company 
in issue at the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to 
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or 
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of 
the Company in issue on the date of offer and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of 
the Company’s shares at the date of the offer) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, 
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon 
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 
options granted is determinable by the directors and, commences after a certain period and, ends on 
a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the 
Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average closing price of 
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five Business 
Days immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

At 31 March 2022, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained 
outstanding under the Scheme was 132,485,000 (2021: 98,140,000), representing 18.12% (2021: 
16.67%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.



99ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The following table summaries the movements in the Company’s share options during the years ended 
31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

Grant date

At 
1 April 

2020

Granted 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

At 
31 March 

2021

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercise 
during 

the year

At 
31 March 

2022 Exercise period

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
per share

HK$

Executive Directors
Sun Wei 21 August 2019 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 21 August 2019 –  

20 August 2025
0.4

11 August 2021 – – – – 5,888,000 – 5,888,000 11 August 2021 – 
10 August 2024

0.161

Man Qiaozhen 21 August 2019 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 21 August 2019 –  
20 August 2025

0.4

11 August 2021 – – – – 5,888,000 – 5,888,000 11 August 2021 – 
10 August 2024

0.161

Independent Non-executive  
Directors

Wang Miaojun 18 August 2020 – 4,907,000 – 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 18 August 2020 –  
17 August 2025

0.076

Wang Yujie 18 August 2020 – 4,907,000 – 4,907,000 – – 4,907,000 18 August 2020 –  
17 August 2025

0.076

Other eligible employees 2 August 2017 4,907,000 – (4,907,000) – – – – 2 August 2017 –  
28 August 2024

–

21 August 2019 29,442,000 – – 29,442,000 – – 29,442,000 21 August 2019 –  
20 August 2025

0.4

18 August 2020 – 39,256,000 – 39,256,000 – (24,535,000) 14,721,000 18 August 2020 –  
17 August 2025

0.076

11 August 2021 – – – – 47,104,000 – 47,104,000

Consultants 2 August 2017 44,165,000 – (44,165,000) – – – – 2 August 2017 –  
28 August 2024

–

21 August 2019 9,814,000 – – 9,814,000 – – 9,814,000 21 August 2019 –  
20 August 2025

0.4

98,142,000 49,070,000 (49,072,000) 98,140,000 58,880,000 (24,535,000) 132,485,000

Notes:

(1) The share options granted on 2 August 2017, 21 August 2019, 18 August 2020 and 11 August 2021 were fully 

vested immediately.

(2) 24,535,000 share options were exercised during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

(3) The weighted average remaining contractual life of the share options outstanding is 4.05 years (2021: 4.38 years).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 58,880,000 share options were granted on 11 August 2021. 
The estimated fair values of the options granted on the date are HK$5,888,000, HK$5,888,000 and 
HK$2,702,919 for SUN Wei, MAN Qiaozhen and other eligible employees respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, options were granted on 18 August 2020. The estimated fair 
values of the options granted on the date are HK$167,000, HK$167,000 and HK$1,005,000 for Wang 
Miaojun, Wang Yujie and other eligible employees respectively.



100 CHINA NATIONAL CULTURE GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2022

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The fair value of the share options granted on 21 August 2019, 18 August 2020 and 11 August 2021 
are measured based on the Binomial option pricing model with the following assumptions:

11 August 
2021

18 August
2020

21 August
2019

Price per share at date of grant HK$0.155 HK$0.075 HK$0.3
Exercise price per share HK$0.161 HK$0.076 HK$0.4
Annual risk-free interest rate 0.273% 0.220% 1.830%
Historical volatility 90.427% 77.867% 79.273%
Life of options 3.00 years 5.00 years 6.00 years
Vesting period – – –

Historical volatility measures the volatility of the underlying asset over a certain historical period of 
time (the “Past Volatility”). It is assumed that the Past Volatility can be extrapolated directly to the 
future volatility.

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price at the 
dates of exercise was HK$0.184 (2021: Nil).

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$3,635,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: 
HK$1,339,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

33. RESERVES

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior year are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

The Company

Under the Companies Law (2004 revision) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s share premium 
account and capital reserve may be distributed to the shareholders of the Company, provided that 
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will 
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share options reserve

Share options reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, 
the amount will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related options are 
exercised, or be transferred to accumulated losses should the related options expire or be forfeited.
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

Exchange translation reserve

Exchange translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation of the net 
assets of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation 
currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the 
exchange translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the foreign operations.

Investment revaluation reserve

Investment revaluation reserve represents gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified 
as investment in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
License fee 2,486 2,566

2,486 2,566

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 741 756
Equity-settled share-based payments expenses 932 334
Pension scheme contributions – 21

1,673 1,111

36. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme 
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees 
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of 
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are 
held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer 
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF 
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme 
at 5% of the employee’s relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. 
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Interest in subsidiaries 13,197 26,360

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries 9,848 7,391
Cash and cash equivalents 3,548 3,952

13,396 11,343

Total assets 26,593 37,703

EQUITY
Capital and reserves

Share capital 29,247 23,555
Reserves (4,071) 12,639

Total equity 25,176 36,194

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals 1,417 1,509

Total liabilities 1,417 1,509

Total equity and liabilities 26,593 37,703

Net current assets 11,979 9,834

Net assets 25,176 36,194

Approved and authorised for issue and signed by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022.

SUN Wei MAN Qiaozhen
Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

The movements of the Company’s reserve during the year

Share
premium

Share options
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 1,233,312 7,341 (1,347,255) (106,602)

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year – – (61,051) (61,051)

Capital reduction 176,659 – – 176,659

Placing shares 2,294 – – 2,294

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payment – 1,339 – 1,339

Lapse of share options – (3,651) 3,651 –

At 31 March 2021 1,412,265 5,029 (1,404,655) 12,639

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year – – (33,166) (33,166)

Placing shares 11,938 – – 11,938

Issue of shares upon exercise of share option 1,513 (630) – 883

Recognition of equity-settled share-based payment – 3,635 – 3,635

At 31 March 2022 1,425,716 8,034 (1,437,821) (4,071)

38. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has no material events after reporting period which are required to 
be disclosed.

39. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 28 June 2022.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements and reclassified as 
appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 67,457 78,095 77,116 89,876 101,155

Loss from operations (40,008) (70,663) (114,416) (75,347) (407,367)
Finance costs – – (8) – –

Loss before tax (40,008) (70,663) (114,424) (75,347) (407,367)
Taxation 5,457 14,346 22,197 9,443 48,694

Loss after tax (34,551) (56,317) (92,227) (65,904) (358,673)

Loss for the year and  
attributable to owners of  
the Company (34,551) (56,317) (92,227) (65,904) (358,673)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 March
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 87,103 101,806 172,317 326,792 399,730
Total liabilities (30,768) (35,956) (62,568) (108,356) (107,051)

Net assets 56,335 65,850 109,749 218,436 292,679

Summary of Financial Information
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